

Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

A structural model for the housing and credit markets in Italy

by Andrea Nobili and Francesco Zollino







Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

A structural model for the housing and credit markets in Italy

by Andrea Nobili and Francesco Zollino

Number 887 - October 2012

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Massimo Sbracia, Stefano Neri, Luisa Carpinelli, Emanuela Ciapanna, Francesco D'Amuri, Alessandro Notarpietro, Pietro Rizza, Concetta Rondinelli, Tiziano Ropele, Andrea Silvestrini, Giordano Zevi. Editorial Assistants: Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

ISSN 1594-7939 (print) ISSN 2281-3950 (online)

Printed by the Printing and Publishing Division of the Bank of Italy

A STRUCTURAL MODEL FOR THE HOUSING AND CREDIT MARKETS IN ITALY

by Andrea Nobili* and Francesco Zollino*

Abstract

We estimate a fully-fledged structural system for the housing market in Italy, taking into account the multi-fold link with bank lending to both households and construction firms. The model allows the house supply to vary in the short run and the banking sector to affect the equilibrium in the housing market, through its effect on housing supply and demand. We show that house prices react mostly to standard drivers such as disposable income, expected inflation and demographic pressures. Lending conditions also have a significant impact, especially through their effects on mortgage loans, and consequently on housing demand. Allowing short-run adjustment in house supply implies a weaker response of house prices to a change in the monetary stance or in banks' deleveraging process. Finally, we find that since the mid-eighties house price developments in Italy have been broadly in line with the fundamentals; during the recent financial crisis, the worsening in credit supply conditions dampened house price dynamics, partly offsetting the positive stimulus provided by the easing of the monetary policy stance.

JEL Classification: E51, E52, G21.

Keywords: house prices, credit, system of simultaneous equations.

Contents

1.	Introduction	5
2.	The housing and credit markets in Italy: the main stylized facts	7
3.	A benchmark model for housing and credit	11
	3.1 The housing block	11
	3.2 The credit block	12
	3.3 The dataset	13
	3.4 The estimation strategy	14
4.	The estimated coefficients of the structural model	15
5.	Assessing house price response to the main exogenous drivers	
	5.1 The transmission channel of monetary policy to house prices	
	5.2 The transmission of other shocks to house prices	
	5.3 Effects on house prices in a model with an exogenous housing supply	
6.	What are the main drivers of house prices over the last decades?	
7.	Implications for house price misalignments	
8.	Concluding remarks	
References		
Aŗ	ppendix A: simulations with the benchmark model	
-		

^{*} Bank of Italy, Economic Outlook and Monetary Policy Department.

1. Introduction

Since the late nineties several theories suggested a significant interaction between asset prices and credit developments in an economy characterized by information frictions, especially because of their effects on the business cycle (Bernake and Gertler, 1995; Kiyotaki and Moore, 1997). In the same vein, several contributions pointed out that credit imbalances and asset price misalignments represent an important challenge for the conduct of monetary policy, especially in the light of their implications for financial stability (Borio and Lowe, 2004; Detken and Smets, 2004).

As for the housing sector, the global financial crisis led to a growing emphasis on the links between the cycles in the property market and those in the credit sector. In particular, there is a large amount of evidence about the key role of the transmission of "boom-bust" cycles from the property markets to the credit sector in determining financial crises (Collyns and Senhadji, 2002; Caprio and Klingebiel, 2003; Hofmann, 2004) and in affecting the real economy, with particular references to the major recessions in the US (Leamer, 2007). From a policy perspective, an in-depth assessment of the links between housing and credit markets is also necessary to understand the transmission mechanism of monetary impulses and the implications for financial stability (Mishkin, 2007; Iacoviello, 2010; Hofmann and Goodhart, 2008). Finally, especially in the design of banks' stress tests, extreme changes in property prices are a significant ingredient of the macroeconomic scenario envisaged to check the banks' resilience. Typically the modelling of credit demand and supply is very accurate, but the feedback from the banking sector to the housing and the other economic sectors is either absent or imposed ad hoc (for a review, see Foglia, 2009).

The lack of a unified framework to study the multi-fold interactions between house market developments and credit and monetary conditions reflects data constraints, especially for European countries, and the methodological challenges that need to be faced to construct a fully-fledged structural model. The interaction between housing and credit has been addressed in recent theoretical contributions within the traditional framework of the financial accelerator, with property prices affecting the borrowing capacity of households and firms due to changes in the value of collateral under financial frictions (Aoki, Proudman and Vlieghe 2004; Iacoviello, 2005; Arcè and Lopez-Salido, 2006; Iacoviello and Neri, 2010). In these papers, however, there is no explicit modelling of equilibrium in the banking sector, with the credit relationships typically occurring between households, acting as borrowers on one side and lenders on the other.

In most of the existing empirical literature, developments in house prices have been studied in isolation from the credit market (see OECD, 2010, for a survey). Some papers estimated a oneway relationship, finding either that property prices significantly affect credit growth (Goodhart, 1995; Hofmann, 2004) or that mortgage loans are an important driver of house prices (Tsatsaronis and Zhu, 2004; Fitzpatrick and McQuinn 2004). Other contributions explored a two-way link between house prices and either total lending (Gerlach and Peng, 2005; Goodhart and Hofmann, 2010) or mortgages (Gimeno and Martínez-Carrascal, 2006; Casolaro and Gambacorta, 2005) using reduced form models of the economy. A common limitation of this approach is that the structural interpretation of the estimated coefficients is hindered by the lack of identifying restrictions of supply and demand factors in both property and credit markets.

In this paper we first assess the multiple interactions between housing and banking in Italy using a system of simultaneous equations, where the impulses from a set of exogenous drivers can be transmitted to house prices and loans to firms and households through several channels. In this regard, the statistical model allows us to improve upon the existing empirical literature along several dimensions. First, the housing market is modelled with a fully-fledged structural system, thus implying that shocks in the economy can significantly affect the equilibrium in the housing sector through their effects on housing demand, as captured by house prices, as well as on housing supply, as captured by changes in residential investments. Explicitly modelling changes in housing supply is not usual in the empirical literature, due to either the limited availability of data or to the usual assumption that land scarcity and regulation make the construction sector rigid in the short run (Malpezzi and Maclennan, 2001; Panfili and Lecat, 2010). To the best of our knowledge, only Iacoviello and Neri (2010) have recently developed a general model for the United States, in which the responsiveness of the house supply is crucial for the functioning of the housing markets.¹

Second, as far as the banking sector is concerned, we model in the estimated system two credit segments that might potentially affect the house market equilibrium, namely mortgage loans to households and loans to construction firms. Mortgage loans are usually considered because of their interaction with housing demand, while loans to firms represent a crucial ingredient of housing supply, to the extent that investment plans are heavily dependent on bank credit. In the case of Italy, the leverage ratio for firms in the construction sector is much higher that that observed for households. To the best of our knowledge, this is a novelty in the literature, since a specific link between house prices and loans to construction firms is largely neglected, either due to the assumption of a rigid house supply schedule in the short run (for a survey, see Andrews, Caldera Sánchez and Johansson, 2011) or because construction activity is assumed to be directly performed by banks (Scoccianti, 2010). These assumptions also represent a solution to the problem of the lack of long time series for this credit segment. In this regard, for the purpose of our analysis, we have made an effort to fill the statistical gap still surrounding the different features of the housing market in Italy, ending with a quarterly dataset that covers almost all the candidate drivers of house prices.

Based on the estimated system, we perform some simulation exercises that shed light on the transmission channels through which the impulses coming from variables such as monetary policy, disposable income, demographic pressures and "pure-supply" factors in the banking system affect house prices in Italy. We also evaluate the relative contribution of each driver to house price booms in the past, with a special focus on the developments observed during the financial crisis. We also assess possible misalignments of actual house prices with respect to the fundamentals.

Our empirical analysis shows that in Italy, the changes in house prices largely reflected the dynamics of the demand factors, such as households' disposable income and demographic pressures. Bank lending also played a crucial role for two main reasons. First, a banks' deleveraging process, as captured by an increase in the capital-to-asset ratio, leads to a significant increase in the cost of credit for both mortgage loans to households and loans to construction firms. Second, as far as the credit channel of monetary policy transmission is concerned, the short-run responsiveness in the housing supply implies a mitigation of the effects of a change in the money market rates on house prices and a faster adjustment of the construction activity compared with the case of a rigid housing supply curve. Finally, in the most acute phase of the global financial crisis, the banks' deleveraging process dampened house price dynamics mostly through its effects on the market for mortgage loans, partly offsetting the positive contribution stemming from the monetary easing. All in all, house price developments have been broadly in line with the fundamentals since the mideighties, with no clear sign of imbalances over the recent financial crisis, too.

Our results are subject to the caveat that some transmission mechanisms of impulses coming from key macroeconomic factors are not fully modelled in the statistical system. First, we do not consider the potential link between property prices and credit stemming from wealth effects on households' consumption. According to life-cycle models, households may react to a rise in house prices by increasing their spending and then their borrowing in order to smooth consumption over time. Evidence for the case of Italy is provided by Guiso, Paiella and Visco (2005) and Bassanetti

¹ Iacoviello and Neri (2010) proposed a two-sector model in which firms produce new homes using capital, labour, and land under a given technology. The model generates endogenous dynamics among the housing and non housing investment, house prices and consumption expenditure. A key result is that a slow technological progress in the housing sector explains a large part of the upward trend in real housing prices observed in the US over the last 40 years.

and Zollino (2010). Second, since all the main drivers are assumed to be exogenous in our model, we may rule out additional feedback effects in the transmission mechanism of monetary policy. Interest rate changes can affect house prices and credit also through changes in households' disposable income and in the banks' capital position. Providing similar extensions to the model is at the top of our agenda for future research.

A final remark regards the remaining data constraints, with particular reference to policyrelated factors potentially affecting the housing market such as taxation, social housing and land restrictions. In this regard, the available data for Italy are very fragmented and we found it a prohibitive task to estimate a time series covering the full sample used in this study.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 sketches the main facts regarding the Italian housing and credit markets since the eighties. Section 3 briefly discusses the main blocks of the system of equations, with reference to the underlying economic theory, the adopted data set and the estimation strategy. In Section 4 we report the estimated coefficients of the model, while in Section 5 we assess the response of house prices to changes in the main exogenous drivers, with a special focus on the effects of monetary policy. In Section 6 we analyse the contribution of each driver to both house prices and credit developments occurring in the past, followed by an investigation of possible house price misalignments in Section 7. The final section summarizes the main findings and items on the agenda for future research.

2. The housing and credit markets in Italy: the main stylized facts

Since the early eighties house prices in Italy showed a pronounced cyclical pattern around a positive trend. Figure 1 compares the developments of the house price indicator put forward by Muzzicato, Sabbatini and Zollino (2008) and its version expressed in real terms (e.g. deflated by the Harmonized Index of Consumer Prices, HICP).

Figure 1



HOUSE PRICE DEVELOPMENTS

Sources: Based on data from Bank of Italy, Il Consulente Immobiliare, Istat and Agenzia del Territorio.

Following the progressive reduction between early 1981 and late 1986, real house prices briskly increased until 1992, up by 17% compared with the previous peak. A new declining phase in real house prices followed the economic and currency crisis of the early nineties, lasting for almost

seven years and causing an average reduction of around 2% per year. Since the beginning of Stage III of the European and Monetary Union, in an environment characterized by increasing economic integration, financial innovation and historically low interest rate levels, house prices resumed a rapid increase. After returning in just two years to the previous peak, they kept increasing at a more moderate pace until the eve of the recent global crisis. Overall, between the summer of 1999 and the winter of 2007 real house prices in Italy grew at an average annualized rate of about 4%. As the financial crisis deepened and the economy experienced the worst recession since WWII, real house prices started a gradual decline, cumulating an overall fall of 4% in the three years to the end of 2010.

In line with the international evidence (IMF, 2008), the cyclical fluctuations of the housing market have been more timely and pronounced for house volume indicators, such as residential investments and transactions, while affecting price changes with some delay. In more recent years, the number of house transactions, after increasing for ten years, began to decline sharply after late 2006, with a partial recovery in the last part of the decade (see Figure 2). The dynamics of residential investments have been broadly similar, apart from a later and shorter downturn over the second half of the decade. This difference may reflect a higher sensitivity of the construction sector due to different coverage (transactions include both existing and new dwellings while residential investments only refer to new dwellings).

In this respect, in Italy the number of available dwellings per household started declining in the mid-nineties, which signalled an increased potential demand for housing; followed by a virtual stabilization in more recent years (Figure 3). In per capita terms, however, the number of dwellings, after temporarily stalling in the early 2000s, resumed a positive trend thereafter, remaining unchanged in 2010 at a significantly higher level than in the mid-nineties. This makes it more interesting to investigate further the role played by different demographic variables in affecting the housing market.

Figure 2

HOUSE PRICES, TRANSACTIONS AND RESIDENTIAL INVESTMENTS

(thousands of units for transactions, millions of euros for residential investments, index 2005=100 for real house prices)



Sources: Based on data from Bank of Italy Il Consulente Immobiliare, Istat and Agenzia del Territorio.



DWELLING STOCK AND DEMOGRAPHY

In Italy credit related to the housing market also showed large cyclical fluctuations in timing and phase similar to those observed for house prices. Figure 4 shows the dynamics of mortgage loans to households and loans to construction firms over time. The annual growth rate of mortgages, after stabilizing between 1987 and 1991 at around 20%, declined rapidly until 1996. Following the gradual acceleration between late 1997 and 2006, mortgages registered a marked slowdown with the eruption of the financial crisis. Interestingly, periods of booms and slowdowns in the mortgages sector have been associated with similar developments in the growth rate of loans to construction firms. Apart from the diverging patterns in the late eighties, data suggest that the cycles in the two credit markets are correlated.²

The cost of credit in Italy, broadly stable between the late eighties and the start of the nineties, showed a marked increase during the financial crisis of 1992, followed by a sharp decline in the wake of Italy's joining the Economic and Monetary Union (Figure 5). In particular, the average interest rate charged on mortgage loans to households diminished to about 5% in 1999 from 12.5% in 1995; for construction firms, the average loan rate declined from 18% to 8%. With the establishment of the euro area, bank rates closely followed the pattern of money market rates and the effects of monetary policy decisions. A further explanatory factor behind the decline in the cost of credit in recent years stems from the common international trend of financial liberalization and product de-specialization shared by the Italian banking system, as well as from the rapid increase in the number of intermediaries, both domestic and foreign, especially in the mortgage loan market.

 $^{^2}$ The sustained credit expansion in Italy was also associated to the steady increase in the propensity of households to indebtedness since the late nineties, plausibly reflecting also fiscal incentive to house purchase due to the introduction of the tax deductibility of interests paid on mortgages and the expenditures for house restructuring. The positive trend in leverage proves by large more moderate for the construction firms.



Figure 5

CREDIT DEVELOPMENTS

(annual data; percentage changes)



Source: Bank of Italy.

BANK INTEREST RATES

(annual data; percentage points)



3 A benchmark model for housing and credit

We investigate the multiple linkages between the housing market and credit developments by estimating a structural system comprising three blocks of equations: i) the demand and supply schedules for housing; ii) the demand and supply schedules for mortgage loans to households; iii) the demand and supply schedules for loans to construction firms. The specification of each block is based on the economic theory, as well as on indications from previous empirical literature. It is summarized by equations where the time dynamics in the relationship between variables is not reported for the sake of simplicity. We mark the endogenous variables of the system in bold in order to highlight the feedback between the different blocks of equations.

3.1 The housing block

The housing block is broadly modelled, drawing on the traditional stock-flow adjustment approach put forward by Di Pasquale and Wheaton (1994) and widely adopted in subsequent empirical studies (McCarthy and Peach, 2004; Topel and Rosen, 1988; Riddel, 2004; Steiner, 2010). The target is to account for the sound evidence that house prices take time to clear the market due to the sluggish adjustment of the existing stock to meet demand and that the housing stock changes slowly over time due to adjustment costs and restrictions on usable land.

		Demand : H	Touse prices = F (diposable inc	come (+), demographic trends (+), expected inflation (+),			
(Housing	Mortgage loans (+), money market rate (-), Hou sin g stock					
	market)	Supply a):	Investments / Hou sin g stock	= F (building cost (-), House prices (+), Loans (+))			
		Supply b) :	Hou sin g stock	= $F(Investments(+), depreciation(-))$			

According to this framework, in the housing demand schedule, prices are the dependent variable and are mostly driven by standard variables. Among these, the demographic developments shape the needs for housing services and explain the strength of competition for the existing house stock. Moreover, it is expected that people will prefer to buy as their disposable income increases and the user cost declines (Poterba, 1984). As measuring user cost is very difficult due to the many fiscal factors affecting the house sector, a reasonable proxy is the risk-free short-term interest rate. However in the empirical literature this variable typically exerts an impact that is either lower than expected or or with a different sign, probably due to a simultaneity bias between interest rates and house prices (Andrews, Caldera Sánchez and Johansson, 2011; Shiller, 2007).

Housing demand might be also expected to be positively correlated with residential rents, since higher rents lead to owners' preferring to rent rather than occupy their house thus increasing the asset value of the house. Alternatively, current house prices may respond positively to future expected prices, and the relevant empirical issue is to identify the mechanism by which households form their expectations. In this respect, we take an empirical short cut based on the evidence that in Italy house inflation mostly drives the households' expectations as regards increases in consumer prices (Del Giovane, et al., 2008). In the house demand equation we test for the significance of the expected general inflation as measured by qualitative surveys across Italian households. Using expected changes in general consumer price inflation in place of marginal rents avoids the risk of simultaneity bias in the estimated coefficient.³ Finally, housing demand can also increase following an improvement in households' access to mortgage loans. Credit supply conditions may be defined in terms of either costs or volumes, depending on the structure of the banking sector.

The housing supply is modelled by two equations. According to the first, the flow of new constructions, empirically measured by residential investment, depends positively on house prices

³ In this regard, Gallin (2004) explored the long-run relationship between house prices and rents in the US and found that house prices do correct back to rents rather than rents correcting to house prices. As for Italy, we perform a formal Granger-causality test, with the result that rents can be considered weakly exogenous to house prices in our dataset.

which are an incentive for firms to build new houses, and, negatively on cost-shifting variables, such as building cost and the opportunity costs for investing. In addition, residential investments can be affected by credit conditions, namely they can benefit from either a lower loan cost or a higher loan cost granted to construction firms. Following McCarthy and Peach (2004) and Di Pasquale and Wheaton (1994), we posit that the candidate regressors drive the residential investment rate so as to progressively realize the planned adjustment in the housing stock. In the second equation, we follow the perpetual inventory approach, where the housing stock equates the flow of new constructions net of the depreciation of the existing ones. However the available data for most countries like Italy refer to residential gross fixed capital formation, as defined in the national accounts, which includes both the progress made in constructing new units and extraordinary maintenance work on the existing ones. Accordingly, residential investments do not exactly match the flow of new units used in the perpetual inventory approach; therefore, we leave the coefficient of residential investment to be freely estimated by the data rather than impose the usual identity restriction.⁴

3.2 The credit block

In the system, we model the two credit segments, namely mortgage loans to households and loans to construction firms, independently from one another. This choice reflects the need to control for possible discrepancies in the magnitude and timing of the transmission of the monetary impulses and banks' balance sheet conditions to the credit conditions charged to households and construction firms. The model specification in the two credit segments are sketched as follows:

ſ	Demand : Mortgage loa	$\mathbf{ms} = F(\mathbf{House prices}(+), \operatorname{diposable income}(+/-), \operatorname{financial wealth}(+/-),$								
(Mortgage loans)		Mortgage rate (-))								
$\left(\text{to households } \right)^{\cdot} S$	Supply: Mortgage ra	te = F (money market rate (+), bank capital ratio (+/-), financial wealth (-),								
House prices (-))										
	Demand : Loans	= F (Investments (+), building cost (-), Loan rate (-), firms' gross value (-))								
Loans to	Supply: Loan rate	= F (money market rate (+), bank capital ratio (+/-), business cycle (-),								
(construction firms)		House prices (-))								

In each credit segment, however, we tackle the controversial identification of credit demand and supply schedules in a similar fashion. In particular, we assume that in the economy, the banking sector is characterized by the usual framework of imperfect competition, in which banks set interest rates (Freixas and Rochet, 2008; Degryse, Kim and Ongena, 2009) and fully accommodate credit demand. Accordingly, the loan rate charged by intermediaries is a mark-up on the money market interest rate (as a proxy of the cost of funding), which may fluctuate depending on the borrowers' creditworthiness and banks' balance sheets position. Our identification strategy hinges on the assumption that loan quantities do not enter the credit supply equation and on the fact that the banks' balance-sheet indicators usually shift credit supply but not credit demand.⁵

⁴ As in most countries, in Italy the lack of a long time series prevents us from controlling for the effects of public policies (taxation and subsidies) and usable land restrictions on the housing market. In order to control for land availability, we tried to proxy it, under an inverse metric, by the share of households living on the outskirts of cities based on data from the Bank of Italy Survey on Household Income and Wealth. The estimated coefficient is negative but not significant.

⁵ The recent empirical literature was more successful in disentangling credit demand and supply by using survey-data (Lown and Morgan, 2006; Ciccarelli, Maddaloni and Peydró, 2010; Del Giovane, Eramo and Nobili, 2011) rather than indicators based on banks' balance sheet data (Berrospide and Edge, 2010; Gambacorta, 2010; Albertazzi and Marchetti, 2010; Bonaccorsi and Sette, 2011; Gambacorta and Marquez-Ibanez, 2011). The short time coverage prevents the use of surveys in Italy for the purposes of our analysis.

In the paper we use the capital-to-asset ratio as a "sufficient" statistic for the banks' balance sheet conditions. The impact of capital on credit is controversial in the empirical literature. For the US, evidence points to a minor effect of bank capital ratios on credit growth, which mostly reacts to economic activity (Bernanke and Lown, 1991; Berrospide and Edge, 2010). Gambacorta (2010) finds a negative, but rather limited, effect of tighter capital and liquidity requirements on credit dynamics. Recent evidence, based on the impact of the tighter capital requirements envisaged by the Basel III regulation, points to a negative impact on credit supply (Angelini et al., 2010). In particular, for Italian banks the effect of a one per cent increase in the capital requirement on the cost of total credit would range between zero and 32 basis points (Locarno, 2011). Other studies for Italy provide mixed evidence on the role of the capital-to-asset ratio in a supply equation for bank loans (Albertazzi and Marchetti, 2010; Bonaccorsi and Sette, 2012). As discussed in depth in Section 5 this variable enters the credit supply equations significantly in a non-linear form.

The credit supply equations comprise additional shifters. Changes in house prices may affect the loan rates negatively through the potential role of the collateral value in amplifying the transmission of structural shocks to the economy (see Bernanke, Gertler and Gilchrist, 1996; Iacoviello, 2005). At the same time, the higher cost of housing implies a higher borrowing requirement on the part of households, reducing the affordability of a new house and thus raising the banks' risk perception and the mark-up. Finally, as a proxy of borrowers' creditworthiness we include disposable income in the supply equation for loans to households and a business cycle indicator in the construction sector for loans to firms. For both variables the expected sign is negative.

The specification of the credit demand schedules is fairly standard. In particular, the flow of mortgages for house purchases is expected to depend positively on house prices and negatively on the cost of credit. The demand for mortgages could also reflect household characteristics, such as disposable income and financial wealth. However, the expected sign for the former remains uncertain. An increase in disposable income exerts a stimulus to mortgage demand since agents are able to raise more external financing. However, in countries where the loan-to-value ratio is low, the demand for mortgages can be fairly insensitive to income changes (Almeida, Campello and Liu, 2006). Regarding financial wealth, we expect that richer households will need to borrow less to purchase their houses.

In the market segment of loans to construction firms, the credit flows relate positively to investment plans in the construction sector, as they sustain firms' borrowing requirements, and negatively on building cost and the loan rate. As for the latter, we follow most of the existing literature that relies on the seminal paper by Friedman and Knutter (1993), and assume that credit demand is a negative function of the opportunity cost of loan financing, measured by the spread between the bank interest rate and the long-term interest rate. In the case of the Italian non-financial sector as a whole, Casolaro et al. (2006) find that loans to firms are negatively related to the difference between the bank loan rate and the 3-month money market rate. Finally, since credit demand may reflect firms' financing needs not directly related to investment purposes, such as inventories management, working capital and debt restructuring, we also control for gross operative margin in the construction sector. We expect that an increase in firms' profitability should reduce firms' financing needs and their credit demand.

3.3. The dataset

As a preliminary step to the econometric analysis, we managed to fill most of the information gap concerning the housing market in Italy, more so at the quarterly frequency and for a longer time horizon. In some cases, we also estimated some statistics concerning the credit market in a historical perspective since, for the large part of the sample, official data have only been released at a quarterly frequency since 1999. We thus developed a large and balanced dataset on the Italian housing market and related banking sector running from 1986Q1 to 2010Q4.

Among the key variables, the quarterly index of house prices (hp) was indirectly estimated starting from the semi-annual indicator put forward by Muzzicato, Sabbatini and Zollino (2008) and updated, for the years after 2008, on the basis of data released by the Agenzia del Territorio.

The index of building cost (*cost*) is regularly released by Istat quarterly. Households' expected inflation (*exp_inflation*) is measured by the balance between consumers' expectations of increasing or decreasing consumer prices over a 12-month horizon, as analysed in Istat surveys.

As a measure of the existing housing stock, we adopt the quarterly dwelling surface (*surf*) estimated in Bassanetti and Zollino (2010). From the same source we borrow the quarterly estimates of households' disposable income (*income*) for years earlier than 2000 when Istat started to release the official statistics.

The source data for most of our estimates come from national accounts, which also provide the time series for residential investments (*invest*) and for gross operative margins in the construction sector The business cycle in the construction sector (cs_cycle) is proxied by the discrepancy between the change of value added in the reference quarter and the average change over the previous five years.

The banks' capital ratio (*capital*) is computed as the ratio of capital and reserves over the risk-weighted assets for the entire banking system, consistently with the definition used for supervisory purposes. Data on the loan quantities to construction firms (*loan*) and mortgage loans to households for dwelling purchases (*mortgage*) are from the Bank of Italy. In this regard, the authors' estimates were required to fully cover the time horizon adopted in the econometric analysis. Interest rates charged by banks are, respectively, the average interest rate charged on mortgage loans to households ($r_mortgage$) and the average rate charged on loans to construction firms (r_loan). The short-term money market rate (r_3m) is the 3-month Euribor since 1999. For the period before 1999 the Italian 3-month interbank rate has been used, which is provided by the Bank of Italy.

3.4. The estimation strategy

Our estimation strategy follows the standard "general-to-specific" approach to macroeconometrics (Hendry, 1993). In particular, we started from the following structural model including a long list of regressors in the quarterly frequency:

$$B_0 \Delta \log(Y_t) = const + \sum_{k=1,4} B_k \Delta \log(Y_{t-k}) + \sum_{k=0,4} \Gamma_k \Delta \log(X_{t-k}) + det + \varepsilon_t$$

where Y stands for the vector of the endogenous variables, namely house prices, residential investment, flows and costs of mortgages to households, and flows and costs of loans to construction firms. X is the vector of the exogenous variables. Both endogenous and exogenous variables initially enter the different equations with up to four lags in order to control for dynamic relationships.

Moving from the general to the specific, we progressively deleted variables and lags that were not statistically significant, ending up with a more parsimonious specification. In order to mitigate the risk of misspecification due to sequential testing, which would prove particularly severe under the limited degrees of freedom to estimate the full system in a general form, the selection of the specific model was pursued equation by equation. Moreover, the final outcome has been compared with the specification obtained by progressively adding regressors in an originally simple model (*forward selection*), finding a reassuring convergence between the two approaches.

We estimate the final model for the period 1986Q1-2010Q4 using a three-stage least squared method to rule our simultaneity bias, after performing the usual control for the identification conditions required in a system of structural equations. More generally, the order condition for each structural equation says that there should be at least as many instruments (including the constant) as there are right-hand-side variables in that equation.

All variables are transformed into logs apart from interest rates and the statistics measured by ratios (for example, the capital-to-asset ratio). As for the controversial choice of nominal versus real variables, we prefer data at current prices since we jointly model the housing and the credit markets. Indeed under asymmetric information, lending is affected by changes in nominal house prices, which determine the value of the collateral offered to banks by borrowers. Moreover, a key criterion that banks apply in granting loans concerns the initial ability of borrowers to pay for debt service; accordingly, current income and nominal interest rates may better explain the quantity of debt that households can obtain rather than permanent income and real interest rates (Martínez-Carrascal and del Rio, 2004). Ellis (2005) and Iacoviello (2005) also showed that both nominal interest rates and collateral value are key determinants of mortgage dynamics.⁶

4. The estimated coefficients of the structural model

In this section we offer a discussion of the estimated coefficients of the system in a structural form. In general we find that in each equation the regressors enter with the expected sign; in the case of multiple lags, the sign of the corresponding variable may be assessed by summing all the single coefficients. Diagnostic control is generally satisfactory as well as the goodness of fit for all equations, apart from some loss in the fit of the demand equation for loans to construction firms, plausibly because of the lack of data regarding loan demand for purposes not directly related to production (i.e. mergers and acquisitions, debt restructuring).

As reported in panel A1 of Table 1, we find that a higher growth rate in mortgage loans to households stimulates house demand via the increase in house price inflation. A positive impact, of almost the same magnitude, is also exerted by households' disposable income. The latter, however, exerts a long-lasting effect on house prices, which is four times the estimated coefficient.⁷ At the same time, the user cost (e.g. the money market rate) has no significant direct effect on house prices, and has been dropped from the equation.⁸ In this respect, we confirm previous evidence pointing to both the pivotal role of income and the controversial role of interest rates in house inflation. We also obtain that sizeable pressures on house prices come from demographic trends, as shown by the negative and significant coefficient for the ratio of available dwelling surface to total population.⁹ In line with most of the available literature (IMF, 2008, Leamer, 2007), house prices prove to be fairly persistent as multiple lags resulted to be positive and significant. Moreover, we find evidence that future price expectations add significant support to house inflation, thus

⁶ In particular, Ellis (2005) analyses the effects of the income and down-payment constraints on indebtedness; Iacoviello (2005) introduces nominal interest rates in addition to collateral constraints in a business cycle model, based on the widespread observation that in low-inflation countries most debt contracts are set in nominal terms.

⁷ Disposable income enters the house demand equation with four lags, all proving highly significant and equal in size. Accordingly, the overall effect is obtained by summing the single coefficients. As a control for households' ability to pay for house purchases and service their mortgages, the unemployment rate, with respect to the total active population or the young people, has also been considered in addition to income and wealth. It was not statistically significant.

⁸ In order to control for the opportunity costs of investing in housing, we have also tested for the statistical significance of the long-term interest rate, finding a clear rejection of this hypothesis.

⁹ We also test some alternative demographic variables, such as the dependence ratio, the number of households and the share of young people in the total population, which proved not to be statistically significant. For example the effect of demographics in the house demand equation was tested on the basis of several variables such as total population, the dependence ratio, the share of prime-age or retired people in the total population, and the number of households.

confirming that the expectations for future prices are a relevant variable in understanding the dynamics of the housing sector.¹⁰

Concerning the housing supply (panel A2), in line with the previous evidence, we find that the investment rate, measured by the ratio of residential investments to dwelling surface, reacts positively to a rise in the profitability of construction firms, as captured by the significance of the ratio of house prices to building cost. Bank loans to firms also play a significant role, thus adding a further credit channel through which shocks from the economy can be transmitted to the housing market, in addition to the standard channel of mortgage loans to households. Lagged investments enter significantly and with a negative sign, confirming the sluggish adjustment of the housing stock to demand conditions; however, the abovementioned statistical discrepancy between investment data and the flow of new constructions may also have a role in our estimates.

Looking at the demand schedules on the credit market (Panels B1 and C1 in Table 1), in the mortgages segment we find a negative effect of disposable income, thus confirming that richer households need to borrow less to purchase their houses. In the segment for loans to developers, we find that the demand schedule is positively and significantly related to investment expenditure. The cost of credit plays a negative role in both market segments, which is similar in magnitude; however, demand for loans in the construction sector reacts more rapidly and is significantly related to the interest-rate spread charged by the banks with the long-term interest rate rather than to the lending interest rate itself. A similar result for a credit demand equation is found in Gambacorta (2010) with reference to loans to firms. This outcome may suggest that the opportunity cost of starting to build new houses reduces the propensity of firms to pay for loans, while the same effect does not hold for the purchase of dwelling services by households.

As for the credit supply equations, "pure-supply" factors exert a significant effect in addition to the role played by the money marker rate (see Panels B2 and C2) in a non-linear form. Indeed, we find that only an increase in the capital-to-asset ratio leads to a significant rise in the cost of credit. Following a 1% increase in the capital-to-asset ratio, bank interest rates for households and firms rise by around 30 and 20 basis points, respectively. As a consequence, loan quantities decline after some quarters. A non-linear and negative relationship between the capital-to-asset ratio and loan growth rate may stem from the view that the increase in the capital-to-asset ratio, which in Italy occurred mostly during the financial crises, captures the banks' deleveraging process in such events. This finding appears to be consistent with evidence found in other recent studies (Locarno, 2011). Interestingly, Del Giovane et al. (2011) showed that the Italian banks participating in the Bank Lending Survey tend to report that only the difficulties in their capital position significantly lead to a tightening in credit standards, while an improvement in their balance sheet indicators does not seem to determine an easing in their credit policies.¹¹

¹⁰ In an alternative specification, we find that current rents in new contracts exert a large positive effect on house prices, as found in the literature (McCarthy and Peach, 2002; Di Pasquale and Wheaton, 1994). However, the effects of past rents turn negative or not significant, possibly pointing at a simultaneity bias between house prices and marginal rents. The quarterly index of market rents was obtained using the same method discussed in this section for house prices; this variable focuses on new contracts for non-occupied dwellings, thus showing less sluggish growth than the rent component in the official HICP index.

¹¹ As additional banks' balance sheet variables, we also explored the role of the liquidity ratio, measured by cash and securities over total assets, with no statistical significance in the estimated coefficients (both in a linear and non-linear specification). Similar results hold true for banks' operating costs and a proxy for competitive pressures (Herfindhal index). Due to data constraint over the long time horizon we considered, we could not test the relevance of other factors used in the literature, such as the bank funding composition (Gambacorta and Marques-Ibanez, 2011) and the securitisation activity (Marques-Ibanez and Scheicher, 2009; Altunbas, Gambacorta and Marques-Ibanez, 2010).

Table 1

Variable	Estimated	Standard	Variable	Estimated	Standard
variable	coefficient	Error	Variable	coefficient	Error
A1. House Der	nand-	A2. House Supply –			
Endogenous variable.	Dlog(hp(t))	Endogenous variable: Dlog(invest (t)/s urf (t-1))			
Constant	-0.118**	0.05	Constant	0.009	0.00
Dlog(mortgage(t))	0.252***	0.08	Dlog(loan(t)	0.076***	0.02
Dlog(hp(t-1))	0.572***	0.09	D(cs_cycle)	0.001***	0.00
Dlog(hp(t-2))	0.241**	0.02	Dlog(ph(t-2)/cost(t-2))	0.318***	0.09
Dlog(hp(t-3))	0.307***	0.10	Dlog(invest(t-3))	-0.028***	0.01
Dlog(hp(t-4))	-0.282***	0.09	Dlog(invest(t-4))	-0.038***	0.01
$Dlog(income))(^{1})$	0.301***	0.10			
Dlog(surf (t-3)/popul(t-3))	-0.186**	0.08 0.01	Adjusted $R^2 = 0.57$; S.E. of regression = 0.002; DV		√ stat=1.50
Dlog(exp_inflation(t))	0.025**				
			Endogenous variable: log(surf (t))		
Adjusted $R^2 = 0.90$; S.E. of regressi	on= 0.006; DW s	tat=2.00	Constant	0.144**	0.05
			log(surf(t-1))	0.955***	0.01
			$log(invest(t))(^1)$	0.021***	0.00
			Adjusted $R^2 = 0.99$; S.E. of regression= 0.006; DW stat=0.3		
D1 Monteogo d					
B1. Mortgage d	lemand	0	B2. Morigage supply		
Enaogenous variable: Di	Og(morigage(i))	0.00	Enaogenous varia	0.020***	0.04
$D\log(hn(t))$	0.005*	0.00	D(r, 2m(t))	-0.039****	0.04
$D\log(\mathbf{np}(t))$	0.125***	0.05	$D(1_{3}III(t))$ $D(r_{3}m(t, 1))$	0.275***	0.04
$D\log(\text{Income}(t-1))$	-0.155***	0.03	$D(I_{3}III(I_{1}))$	0.300****	0.04
$D(\mathbf{r}_{mortgage}(t-1))$	-0.003***	0.00	D(capital(t-2))>0 D(capital(t-2))	2.078**	0.12
$D(\mathbf{I}_{\text{IIIOI}} \text{ tgage}(t-2))$	-0.003	0.00	Diog(wrind(t))	-2.978	0.95
Dlog(mortgage(t-1))					
	0.434***	0.08	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t))	3.235**	1.53
Dlog(mortgage(t-2))	0.434^{***} 0.414^{***}	0.08 0.08	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t))	3.235**	1.53
Dlog(mortgage (t-2)) Adjusted R ² = 0.85; S.E. of regression=	0.434*** 0.414*** = 0.006; DW stat=	0.08 0.08 =1.97	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t)) Adjusted R^2 = 0.75; S.E. of regr	3.235** ession= 0.27; DW sta	1.53 at=1.76
Dlog(mortgage (t-2)) Adjusted R ² = 0.85; S.E. of regression= C1. Demand for loa	0.434*** 0.414*** = 0.006; DW stat=	0.08 0.08 =1.97	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t)) Adjusted R^2 = 0.75; S.E. of regr C2. Supply for	3.235** ession= 0.27; DW sta : loans to firms	1.53 at=1.76
Dlog(mortgage (t-2)) Adjusted R ² = 0.85; S.E. of regression= C1. Demand for loa <i>Endogenous variable</i>	0.434*** 0.414*** = 0.006; DW stat= ms to firms :: D(loan(t))	0.08 0.08 =1.97	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t)) Adjusted R ² = 0.75; S.E. of regr C2. Supply for <i>Endogenous varia</i>	3.235** ession= 0.27; DW sta cloans to firms able: D(r_loan(t))	1.53 at=1.76
Dlog(mortgage (t-2)) Adjusted R ² = 0.85; S.E. of regression= C1. Demand for loa <i>Endogenous variable</i> Constant	0.434*** 0.414*** = 0.006; DW stat= ans to firms :: D(loan(t)) 0.001	0.08 0.08 =1.97 0.01	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t)) Adjusted R ² = 0.75; S.E. of regr C2. Supply for <i>Endogenous varia</i> Constant	3.235** ession= 0.27; DW sta cloans to firms able: D(r_loan(t)) -0.051**	1.53 at=1.76 0.02
Dlog(mortgage (t-2)) Adjusted R ² = 0.85; S.E. of regression= C1. Demand for loa <i>Endogenous variable</i> Constant Dlog(invest (t))	0.434*** 0.414*** = 0.006; DW stat= = ms to firms =: D(loan(t)) 0.001 0.086***	0.08 0.08 =1.97 0.01 0.03	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t)) Adjusted R ² = 0.75; S.E. of regr C2. Supply for <i>Endogenous varia</i> Constant Dr_3m(t)	3.235** ession= 0.27; DW states cloans to firms able: D(r_loan(t)) -0.051** 0.499***	1.53 at=1.76 0.02 0.03
Dlog(mortgage (t-2)) Adjusted R ² = 0.85; S.E. of regression= C1. Demand for loa <i>Endogenous variable</i> Constant Dlog(invest (t)) Dlog(invest((t-1))	0.434*** 0.414*** = 0.006; DW stat= = ns to firms >: D(loan(t)) 0.001 0.086*** 0.077**	0.08 0.08 =1.97 0.01 0.03 0.03	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t)) Adjusted R ² = 0.75; S.E. of regr C2. Supply for <i>Endogenous varia</i> Constant Dr_3m(t) Dr_3m(t-1)	3.235** ession= 0.27; DW sta cloans to firms able: D(r_loan(t)) -0.051** 0.499*** 0.368***	1.53 at=1.76 0.02 0.03 0.02
Dlog(mortgage (t-2)) Adjusted R ² = 0.85; S.E. of regression= C1. Demand for loa <i>Endogenous variable</i> Constant Dlog(invest (t)) Dlog(invest ((t-1)) D(r_loan (t)- r_ 10y(t))	0.434*** 0.414*** = 0.006; DW stat= = D(loan (t)) 0.086*** 0.077** -0.003***	0.08 0.08 =1.97 0.01 0.03 0.03 0.00	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t)) Adjusted R ² = 0.75; S.E. of regr C2. Supply for <i>Endogenous varia</i> Constant Dr_3m(t) Dr_3m(t-1) D(capital(t-2))>0	3.235** ession= 0.27; DW sta cloans to firms able: D(r_loan(t)) -0.051** 0.499*** 0.368*** 0.180**	1.53 at=1.76 0.02 0.03 0.02 0.09
Dlog(mortgage (t-2)) Adjusted R ² = 0.85; S.E. of regression= C1. Demand for loa <i>Endogenous variable</i> Constant Dlog(invest (t)) Dlog(invest((t-1)) D(r_loan (t)- r_ 10y(t)) Dlog(loan (t-1))	0.434*** 0.414*** = 0.006; DW stat= ms to firms :: D(loan(t)) 0.001 0.086*** 0.077** -0.003*** 0.834***	0.08 0.08 =1.97 0.01 0.03 0.03 0.00 0.04	Dlog(hp(t)/income(t)) Adjusted R^2 = 0.75; S.E. of regr C2. Supply for <i>Endogenous varia</i> Constant Dr_3m(t) Dr_3m(t-1) D(capital(t-2))>0 D(cs_cycle(t)	3.235** ession= 0.27; DW states to loans to firms able: D(r_loan(t)) -0.051** 0.499*** 0.368*** 0.180** -0.001**	1.53 at=1.76 0.02 0.03 0.02 0.09 0.00

THE ESTIMATED COEFFICIENTS FOR THE SYSTEM IN STRUCTURAL FORM

Notes: Variables are defined in Section 3.3. The system is estimated by means of Three-Stage Least Squares (3SLS) over the sample period 1986Q4 2010Q4. Endogenous variables are marked in bold. *,**,*** denote significance at 10, 5 and 1% respectively. (1) Four-term moving average.

The pass-through of changes in money market rates to the cost of credit is sluggish in both credit segments, with a lower effect on the cost of borrowing for households than for developers. Following a one per cent increase in the short-term interest rate, the loan rate for households rises by 27 basis points in the same quarter and by 31 in the subsequent one; the corresponding increase for construction firms is of 50 and 37 basis points. A lagged reaction of bank rates to monetary policy shocks is a common feature of many empirical studies. However, the different pass-through across the two credit sectors may signal somewhat stronger competitive pressures in the market for loans to households due to deeper integration and financial innovation.

As for the value of collateral (proxied by house prices), we do not find a significant effect on the cost of lending to firms and so it has been dropped from the equation. The result is not surprising since many loans to firms are short term and are typically not collateralized. We find that business cycle conditions in the construction sector affect the cost of credit to developers because during a recession the risk premium charged by banks is higher than during an expansion. As for mortgages to households, we find that house inflation leads, *ceteris paribus*, to an increase in the cost of credit due to the worsening of house affordability (as proxied by the ratio of house price to household disposable income). Accordingly, Italian banks seem to pay more attention to the households' creditworthiness than to the value that they can recover in the case of default. The highly significant and negative coefficient for financial wealth confirms the key role of customer scrutiny rather than the market value of collateral in determining bank credit supply.

5. Assessing house price response to the main exogenous drivers

The structural model described in the previous section can be *solved* and rearranged in order to obtain the reduced form, in which each endogenous variable depends on lagged values of all the endogenous variables and on current and lagged values of the exogenous variables. By solving the model, we mean that for a given set of values of the exogenous variables, we find a set of values for the endogenous variables, so that the equations in the model are satisfied. For model solution we rely on the iterative Gauss-Seidel algorithm which is suitable for nonlinear equation system.

The reduced form model is suitable to perform dynamic stochastic simulations useful for policy analysis. In this regard, we assess the overall impact of changes in the exogenous factors on the endogenous variables over a forecast horizon of five years. In this section we focus on the dynamic response of house prices to changes in the relevant drivers, while the estimated effects on the other endogenous variables are reported for completeness in Appendix A. For each stochastic simulation, we generate the empirical distribution of the model solution using a Monte Carlo simulation based on 5,000 independent draws from the standard normal distribution. The resulting distribution reflects uncertainty about both the estimated coefficients and the covariance matrix of the residuals and is summarized by the median and the 10 percent confidence bands over all the different outcomes. The estimated effects of each exogenous driver on house prices are reported in Figure 6a and are computed as deviations from the baseline scenario, namely a scenario in which all exogenous variables do not change over the entire forecast horizon.

5.1. The transmission channel of monetary policy to house prices

We first undertake a monetary policy experiment according to which the 3-month money market rate increases by 50 basis points in the first quarter and remains at the new level for the rest of the forecast horizon. The upper-left panel of Figure 6a shows house prices with a humped-shaped response that declines sharply for six consecutive quarters and then slowly returns to the starting point. The dynamic linkages between housing and banking are useful to shed light on the transmission mechanism of monetary policy. Following the positive short-term interest rate shock, bank loan rates increase for the two subsequent quarters. The transmission of the higher cost of credit to house prices is twofold in our model. On one side, the increase in the mortgage rate feeds into a persistent decline in loans for house purchases. On the other side, loans to construction firms negatively react to changes in the spread between the bank rate and the long-term interest rate. The decline of loans to construction firms is lower than that recorded for mortgage loans. In the model the negative response to loans to construction firms leads to a drop in residential investment and the housing stock. The overall effect on house price level, however, is a persistent and hump-shaped decline peaking at around 0.2% two years after the initial monetary impulse. This implies that the decline in house supply only partially mitigates the deflationary effect on house prices stemming from the decrease in housing demand. As far as a comparison with the previous literature is concerned, especially for the US, we provide evidence that the response of residential investment is more persistent but of a smaller magnitude.



ESTIMATED EFFECTS OF MAIN EXOGENOUS DRIVERS ON HOUSE PRICES

(quarterly data; deviations from baseline scenario)

Notes: Each figure reports the estimated effect on the house price level of a 0.5% increase in the indicated exogenous driver. The baseline scenario is based on the assumption that all exogenous variables do not change over the entire forecast horizon. Confidence bands represent the 10^{th} and 90^{th} percentiles of the empirical distribution of the forecasts obtained from a Monte Carlo simulation based on 5,000 draws.

In the case of Italy, Gambacorta and Iannotti (2005) found evidence that the adjustment of retail bank rates to money market rates is asymmetric in the short run. Banks adjust the rate of loans to non-financial firms at a faster peace after monetary tightening than in the case of a decrease in the policy rate. As a result, we might expect a stronger effect on housing supply and, in turn, a lower response from house prices following an increase in the short-term interest rate. We

Figure 6a

performed an alternative experiment in which we consider separately positive and negative changes in the 3-month money market rate in order to obtain two variables, representing, respectively, monetary tightening and monetary easing. They are included simultaneously in each credit supply equation of the model. Interestingly, we find that a positive change in the short-term rate is transmitted with greater intensity than a negative one in both credit segments. For loans to construction firms, the pass-through is complete after monetary tightening while about 0.8 following monetary easing. For mortgage loans to households the corresponding pass-through values are, respectively, 0.7 and 0.5. These results imply a weaker deflationary effect of monetary tightening on house prices than in the benchmark case, as opposed to a stronger inflationary impact after monetary easing (see Figure A7 in Appendix A).

5.2. The transmission of other shocks to house prices

In an alternative simulation we assess the effects of a credit supply shock. In particular, we perform an experiment in which the total capital-to-asset ratio increases by 0.5% in one quarter. The banks' deleveraging process leads to a lagged increase in bank rates. However, the subsequent decline in bank loans is greater for mortgage loans to households than for loans to construction firms. The resulting fall in house prices begins one year after the shock. This negative effect is more persistent but weaker in magnitude than that implied by the monetary policy shock.

As far as the dynamic effects of housing demand shifters are considered, we compare the response of house prices to three different experiments involving a positive 0.5% positive shock in disposable income, population and expected consumer inflation, one at a time. The cumulated effect on the house price level is particularly strong for households' disposable income. More generally, it is interesting that housing demand shocks in our system imply a stronger response of house prices than in the case of a monetary policy shock. Notice that, for construction, each housing demand shock has no direct effect on credit to construction firms and residential investments in our model. However, the model generates feedback effects on the housing supply in the long run. For example, in the case of the increase in disposable income, the initial rise in house prices leads to an increase in construction firms' profitability (e.g. the ratio of house prices to construction cost increases, *all other things being equal*), to higher residential investments and, in turn, to lower house prices in the long run. In addition, the surge in residential investments also determines a higher demand for loans from construction firms, thus reinforcing this negative indirect effect of housing supply on prices.

Finally, we perform a 0.5% reduction in the building cost, which in the model represents a pure housing supply shock. This experiment is broadly similar to the assessment of a positive technology shock in the construction sector as in Iacoviello and Neri (2010). The inflationary effects on house prices are persistent and significant and comparable in magnitude with those recorded for the monetary policy experiment.

5.3. Effects on house prices in a model with an exogenous housing supply

In order to highlight the role of housing supply responsiveness, we compare the simulations based on the benchmark model with those obtained with an alternative one where the housing supply is assumed to be rigid. The exclusion of the transmission channels through the housing supply is obtained by dropping the equation for residential investments in the system and simply by assuming that the dwelling surface is an exogenous driver in the equation for house prices. Notice that a decline in this variable essentially replaces the role of building cost as a pure negative housing supply shock, with a significant deflationary effect on house prices. The estimated effects of the exogenous drivers on house prices with this alternative model are reported in Figure 6b.

A visual comparison with Figure 6a suggests that in general the sign of the overall effect of each exogenous driver on house prices reflects the sign in the housing demand equation. However, the timing and magnitude of the effects are somewhat different under a flexible rather than a rigid

housing supply curve. In particular, the deflationary effects of monetary policy restriction or banks' deleveraging are more severe in the long run if the housing supply is exogenous.

Figure 6b ESTIMATED EFFECTS OF THE MAIN EXOGENOUS DRIVERS ON HOUSE PRICES IN A SYSTEM WITH AN EXOGENOUS HOUSING SUPPLY



Notes: Each panel reports the estimated effect on the house price level of a 0.5% increase in the indicated exogenous driver. The baseline scenario is based on the assumption that all exogenous variables do not change over the entire forecast horizon. Confidence bands represent the 10th and 90th percentiles of the empirical distribution of the forecasts obtained from a Monte Carlo simulation based on 5,000 draws.

6. What were the main drivers of house prices over the last decades?

In this section we assess the contribution of each exogenous driver to the changes in house prices and credit flows in Italy over the period 1990-2010. The original sample is slightly restricted to eliminate the dynamic effects of the initial conditions. The impact of a single driver is computed by means of counterfactual exercises in which we compare the fitted values of the benchmark

model with those obtained by a simulation in which the same driver has been kept fixed over the entire horizon of the simulation; the impact is obtained as the difference between logs of the latter and the former fitted values. As a general caveat, the results of the simulation are affected by the choice of the starting period of the counterfactual exercise, which we uniformly set at 1990 to cover the two main house price cycles.

As clear-cut evidence, housing demand factors provided the main positive contributions to house price dynamics over the entire sample (Figure 7). This outcome was driven, above all, by developments in disposable income, albeit with a declining intensity over time and a negative one in the most recent period. Population growth, which was particularly strong after 2000, made a positive contribution. Mirroring the upward trend in building costs, the adjustment of house supply exerted inflationary effects, which proved particularly intense in the late nineties, and stabilized at a more moderate size in recent years. Credit supply factors provided a dampening effect during the financial turmoil of the mid-nineties, followed by a long period of positive support, albeit to a lesser extent in the global recession. Regarding monetary policy, the estimated effects at a single point in time were influenced by the impact of the policy stance in previous periods, apparently to a greater extent than for the other variables. As a result, we find that monetary policy had a deflating impact on house prices during the turmoil at the beginning on the nineties, followed by a positive impact on the path to the Monetary Union, peaking in 1999 as the cost of credit largely benefited from the decline in the policy rate in the new institutional framework. The monetary policy effects turned largely negative at the beginning of the 2000s, progressively easing the drag on house prices in the following years. During the financial crisis, the monetary policy effects became positive again, broadly at the same level as in the mid-nineties.

In the same vein, we perform the corresponding exercise for credit variables (see Figures A8 and A9 in Appendix A). In particular, the demand factors (i.e. households' disposable income and population growth) played a major role between the early nineties and the start of the Econonic Monetary Union, losing momentum in the cyclical downturn of 2001-02. Demand factors strengthened again until the eve of the financial crisis, becoming almost negligible thereafter. In line with results already reported for house prices, the credit supply factors exerted a relatively stronger negative effect on mortgages in the mid-nineties and, to a lesser extent, in the most recent years; interestingly, in these periods the impact remains negligible on the loans market.

The evidence against a strong effect of supply factors on mortgages during the Great Recession is broadly in line with the results found by Del Giovane, Eramo and Nobili (2011), which are, however, based on qualitative information collected by the Bank Lending Survey. In the same paper, however, it is reported that supply factors have recently affected credit to firms more significantly, albeit with no distinction between the non-construction and the construction sector. This evidence is also confirmed in Albertazzi and Marchetti (2010).

Further, the monetary policy contribution also mirrors the pattern found for house prices, confirming that changes in credit conditions are channelled to the housing sector mostly through the mortgage market. Differences occasionally detected between the effects of monetary policy on house prices and on mortgage flows can be traced back to the different lags by which house prices interact with current changes in prices themselves and credit flows.

Figure 7

HISTORICAL DECOMPOSITION OF HOUSE PRICES

(quarterly data; deviations from baseline)



Notes: Each panel reports the effects on house price levels provided by a single driver at each point in time. The effects are measured as the deviation in logs of the house prices fitted under the assumption of no change of the considered driver and those obtained from the benchmark model.

7. Implications for house price misalignments

In the empirical literature residuals of an econometric estimation of the price equation provide a useful tool for detecting possible misalignments with respect to the fundamentals. This approach, initially based on a limited set of regressors (interest rates, disposable income, demography), has recently been developing to include financial and credit variables (Tsatsaronis and Zhu 2004; IMF 2007; OECD, 2010). In our model we control for as many as ten exogenous factors, possibly reducing the margin of uncertainty that is usually attached to the econometric approach to house price bubbles (Gürkaynak 2008; ECB 2010). At the same time we have made a special effort to fill the information gaps usually affecting house price determinants. This is even more important in the case of Italy, with our major failures in providing information (?) regarding public policies as well as land availability and prices.

Our results point to negligible misalignments of Italian house prices over all the previous cycles we have identified in Section 2.1. Indeed the discrepancy between the actual and fitted dynamics proves to be very low in the two latest expansionary phases, as it is positive by around 0.2 percentage points against the strong increases of 13.4% and 6.9% registered at current values between the period 1987Q2-1997Q3 and 1999Q4-2007Q3 (Figure 8). The discrepancy is negligible for the recession that began with the crisis of the early nineties, while the abrupt deceleration of house prices observed since 2007 proves marginally more pronounced than implied by determinants (0.6 against 7.0 per cent, respectively).

Figure 8



HOUSE PRICES IN RECENT CYCLES (current values; annualized average changes in reference periods)

Focusing our attention on the latest developments, we see that the actual increases in house prices, after being lower than implied by the fundamentals over the year 2005, became more or less balanced until the first semester of 2008. As the financial crisis deepened, house price dynamics in Italy lost momentum more severely than implied by our structural model in the second semester of 2008, became moderately negative over the year 2009 despite the fundamentals deteriorating more severely, and were once again virtually balanced in 2010 (Figure 9.A). In terms of levels, the gap between actual and fitted values has been below 0.2 percentage points since the start of 2005 apart from the somewhat significant depreciation detected in the second semester 2008 (-0.8 percentage

points), which was fully recovered by the end of 2010 (Figure 9.B). All in all, these results point to a broadly balanced picture in the Italian housing market.

The implications of the econometric model are largely in line with the indicators that are commonly adopted to assess price developments by the community of market analysts and in the institutional debate, even more so when they take account of the prolonged low level of interest rates. On one side, the price-to-rent ratio, after peaking in the second half of 2007, has progressively recovered its long-run average, signalling that the risk of a misalignment was moderate and very temporary.

Figure 9

HOUSE PRICES OVER THE FINANCIAL CRISIS



A. Yearly changes of house prices in percentage points

B. Deviation between fitted and actual levels in percentage points



On the other side, the affordability index, assessed in the rough measure that rules out interest rate development, was on the rise until the eve of the financial crisis, remaining significantly above the long-run average thereafter (Figure 10). Noticeably, when the low interest rates come in, the index shows a more reassuring message, as the ability of households to buy a

dwelling has significantly improved since 2008, possibly supporting a higher level of the houseprice; the partial reversal in the very last period is also in line with a closing gap between the actual and fitted price levels implied by the econometric.

Figure 10



PRICE-TO-RENT RATIO AND AFFORDABILITY INDEX (Indices 1992-2010=100)

Notes: The rough affordability index is measured by the ratio of house prices to household disposable income in per capita terms. The affordability index is the ratio of the product of house price and the mortgage interest rate to household disposable income in per capita terms. Lower values of both indices signal improved affordability.

8. Concluding remarks

In this paper we put forward a structural model featuring the multi-fold links between the housing and the banking sector in Italy. In this respect, we are contributing to the large body of literature that has flourished since the eruption of the financial crisis by jointly modelling equilibrium in the housing markets and in two related segments of the credit market, namely loans to households for house purchases and to firms for construction. In order to estimate the structural system we tackle the important data constraint regarding the housing sector in Italy by developing a rich dataset covering almost all the candidate drivers of housing supply and demand.

Our empirical analysis shows that house prices in Italy significantly reacted with a positive sign to an increase in household disposable income and demographic pressures and also to monetary easing. With some non-linearity, credit supply conditions, as captured by the capital-to-asset ratio, also exerted a significant and negative effect. Compared with the case of a rigid housing supply, allowing short-run responsiveness of residential investments to shocks in the economy affects the transmission of the monetary impulse to the housing sector, as it implies, for example, a mitigation of the deflationary effects of a policy tightening on house prices and faster recovery in the construction activity.

During the recent financial crisis the banks' deleveraging process, as captured by the increase in the capital ratio, dampened house price dynamics and largely offset the positive support coming from the monetary easing. All in all, house price developments appeared to be broadly in line with fundamentals over the full time horizon of the econometric analysis.

References

Albertazzi, U. and D. J. Marchetti (2010), "Credit supply, flight to quality and evergreening: An analysis of bank-firm relationships after Lehman", Bank of Italy, Working Paper No. 756.

Almeida, H., Campello, M. and Liu, C. (2006), "The Financial Accelerator: Evidence from International Housing Markets", *Review of Finance*, 10, 1-32.

Altunbas Y., Gambacorta L. and D. Marqués-Ibanez (2010), "Does monetary policy affect bank risk- taking?", BIS Working Paper Series No. 298.

Andrews, D., A. Caldera Sánchez, and A. Johansson (2011), "Housing markets and structural policies in OECD countries", *OECD Economic Department Working Paper*, No. 836.

Angelini, P., Clerc, L., Curdia, V., Gambacorta, L, Gerali, A., Locarno, A., Motto, R., Roeger, W., Van den Heuvel, S. and Vlcek, 2011, J., "Basel III: Long-term impact on economic performance and fluctuations", Bank of Italy, Occasional Papers No. 87.

Aoki, K., Proudman, J., and G. Vlieghe (2004), "House Prices, Consumption, and Monetary Policy: A Financial Accelerator Approach", *Journal of Financial Intermediation*, 13, 414–35.

Arcè O. J., and D. J. Lopez-Salido (2006), "House Prices, Rents and Interest Rates under Collateral Constraints", *CEPR Discussion Paper* No. 5689.

Bassanetti, A. and Zollino, F. (2010), "The effects of housing and financial wealth on personal consumption: Aggregate evidence for Italian households" in O. de Bandt., T. Knetch, J. Penalosa and F. Zollino (eds) *Housing Markets in Europe. A Macroeconomic Perspective*, Springer.

Bernanke, B. and M. Gertler (1995), "Inside the black box: the credit channel of monetary policy transmission", *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 9, 4, 27-48.

Bernanke, B., Gertler, M. and Gilchrist, S. (1996), "The Financial Accelerator and the Flight to Quality", *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 78(1), 1-15.

Bernanke, B., and C. Lown (1991), "The credit crunch", Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, 2, 205-247.

Berrospide J.M. and Edge R.M (2010), "The effects of bank capital on lending: what do we know? And, What does it all mean?", Board of the Federal Reserve System, mimeo.

Bonaccorsi, E. and Sette, R. (2012), "Bank balance sheets and the transmission of financial shocks to borrowers: evidence from the 2007-2008 crisis", Bank of Italy, Working Paper No. 848.

Borio, C. and P. Lowe (2004), "Securing sustainable price stability: should credit come back from the wilderness?", BIS Working Paper No.157.

Casolaro, L. and L. Gambacorta (2005), "Un modello econometrico per il credito bancario alle famiglie in Italia", *Moneta e Credito*, 58, 29-56.

Casolaro, L., Eramo, G: and L. Gambacorta (2006), "Un modello econometrico per il credito bancario alle imprese in Italia", *Moneta e Credito*, 234, 151-183.

Caprio, G. and Klingebiel, D. (2003) "Episodes of Systemic and Borderline Financial Crises", World Bank

Ciccarelli, M., Maddaloni, A. and Peydro, J.-L. (2010), "Trusting the bankers: another look at the credit channel of monetary policy", European Central Bank, Working Paper Series No. 1228.

Collyns, C. and Senhadji, A. (2002) "Lending Booms, Real Estate Bubbles and The Asian Crisis", *IMF Working Paper*, No. 02/20

Degryse, H, Kim, M. and Ongena, S. (2009) *Microeconometrics of Banking Methods, Applications, and Results* Oxford University Press

Del Giovane, P., Eramo G. and Nobili, A. (2011), "Disentangling demand and supply in credit developments: a survey-based analysis for Italy", *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 35, 2719-2732.

Del Giovane, P., Fabiani, S. and Sabbatini, R. (2008), "What's behind "inflation perceptions"? A survey based analysis of Italian consumers", Bank of Italy, Working Paper No. 655.

Detken, C. and F. Smets (2004), "Asset price booms and monetary policy", in Horst Siebert (eds.) *Macroeconomic Policies in the World Economy*, Springer, Berlin, 189-227.

Di Pasquale, D. and W. Wheaton (1994), "Housing market dynamics and the future of housing Prices", *Journal of Urban Economics*, 35.

ECB (2010), Monthly Bullettin, December.

Ellis, L. (2005), "Disinflation and the dynamics of mortgage debt", BIS Working Paper No. 022.

Fitzpatrick, T. and K. McQuinn (2004), "House prices and mortgage credit: empirical evidence for Ireland", *Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland Research Technical Paper*, 5/RT/04.

Foglia, A. (2009), "Stress Testing Credit Risk: A Survey of Authorities' Approaches", *International Journal of Central Banking*, 5, 9-45.

Freixas, X. and Jean-Charles Rochet, J.C., (2008) *Microeconomics of Banking*, 2nd Edition. MIT Press

Gambacorta, L. and Iannotti, S. (2005), "Are there asymmetries in the response of bank interest rates to monetary shocks?", *Applied Economics*, 39(19), pp. 2503-2517.

Gambacorta, L. (2010), "Do bank capital and liquidity affect real economic activity in the long run? A VECM analysis for the US", BIS, mimeo.

Gambacorta L. and D. Marqués-Ibanez (2011), "The bank lending channel: lessons from the crisis", Bank for International Settlements, BIS Working Papers No. 345.

Gerlach, S., and Peng, W. (2005), 'Bank Lending and Property Prices in Hong Kong', *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 29, 461–81.

Gimeno, R. and C. Martínez-Carrascal (2006), "The interaction between house prices and loans for house purchase. The Spanish case", *Banco de España Documentos de Trabajo*, No. 0605.

Goodhart, C. (1995), 'Price Stability and Financial Fragility', in K. Sawamoto, Z. Nakajima, and H. Taguchi (eds), Financial Stability in a Changing Environment, London, Macmillan.

Goodhart, C. and Hofmann, B. (2008) "House Prices, Money, Credit, and the Macroeconomy" *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 24, 180–205.

Gürkaynak, R.S (2008), "Econometric Tests of Asset Price Bubbles: Taking Stock", *Journal of Economic Survey*, 22, pp. 166-86.

Guiso, L., Paiella, M. and I. Visco (2005), "Do capital gains affect consumption? Estimates of wealth effects from Italian households' behaviour", Bank of Italy, Working Paper, No. 555.

Hendry, D. F. (1993) *Econometrics: Alchemy or Science? Essays in Econometric Methodology,* Blackwell Publishers, Oxford.

Hofmann, B. (2004) "The Determinants of Private Sector Credit in Industrialised Countries: Do Property Prices Matter?', *International Finance*, 7, 203–234.

Iacoviello, M. (2010), "Housing in DSGE Models: Findings and New Directions", in O. de Bandt., T. Knetch, J. Penalosa and F. Zollino (eds) *Housing Markets in Europe. A Macroeconomic Perspective*, Springer.

Iacoviello, M. and Neri, S. (2010), "Housing market spillovers: evidence from an estimated DSGE model", *The American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, 2(2), 125-64.

IMF (2007), World Economic Outlook, October.

IMF (2008), World Economic Outlook, April.

Kiyotaki, N. and Moore, J. (1997), "Credit cycles", Journal of Political Economy, 105(2), 211-48.

Leamer, E. E. (2007), "Housing is the business cycle", NBER Working Papers, No. 13428.

Locarno, A. (2011) "The macroeconomic impact of Basel III on the Italian economy" mimeo, Bank of Italy

Lown, C., and D. Morgan (2006), "The credit cycle and the business cycle: new findings using the Loan Officer Opinion Survey", *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 38, 1575-97.

Martínez-Carrascal, C. and A.del Rio (2004), "Household borrowing and consumption in Spain: a VECM approach", Banco de España, Working Paper No. 421.

McCarthy, J. and R. Peach (2004), "Are home prices the next bubble?", Federal Reserve Bank of NewYork Economic Policy Review, Federal Reserve Bank of New York, December.

Mishkin, F., S. (2007), "Housing and the monetary transmission mechanism", Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, Housing, Housing Finance, and Monetary Policy, 2007 Jackson Hole Symposium (Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, Kansas City, 2007), 359-413.

Muzzicato, S., Sabbatini, R. and Zollino, F. (2008), "Price of residential property in Italy: constructing a new indicator", Bank of Italy Occasional Paper No.17.

OECD (2010), "Housing Markets: A Progress Report", mimeo.

Pamfili, A. and Lecat, R. (2010), "The Housing Bubble and Financial Factors: Insights from a Structural Model of the French and Spanish Residential Markets" in O. de Bandt., T. Knetch, J. Penalosa and F. Zollino (eds) *Housing Markets in Europe. A Macroeconomic Perspective*, Springer.

Poterba, J. M. (1984), "Tax subsidies to owner-occupied housing: a model with downpayment effects" *Quaterly Journal of Economics* 110, 729.752.

Scoccianti, F. (2010), "Causes and Welfare Consequences of real Estate Price Appreciation", in O. de Bandt., T. Knetch, J. Penalosa and F. Zollino (eds) *Housing Markets in Europe. A Macroeconomic Perspective*, Springer.

Shiller, R.J. (2007) "Understanding Recent Trends in House Prices and Home Ownership" *NBER Working Papers*, No. 13553

Tsatsaronis, K. and H. Zhu (2004), "What drives housing price dynamics: Cross country evidence", BIS Quarterly Review, Bank for International Settlements, March.









Figure A2 Estimated effects of a 0.5% increase in bank capital ratio (deviations from baseline scenario)



Figure A3 Estimated effects of a 0.5% increase in disposable income (deviations from baseline scenario)



Figure A4 Estimated effects of a 0.5% increase in inflation expectations (deviations from baseline scenario)



Figure A5 Estimated effects of a 0.5% increase in building cost (deviations from baseline scenario)



Figure A6 Estimated effects of a 0.5% increase in population (deviations from baseline scenario)



a) Increase in the 3-month money market rate by 50 basis points

b) Decrease in the 3-month money market by 50 basis points



Figure A8



HISTORICAL DECOMPOSITION OF MORTGAGE LOANS

(quarterly data; deviations from baseline)

Figure A9

HISTORICAL DECOMPOSITION OF LOANS TO CONSTRUCTION FIRMS

(quarterly data; deviations from baseline)



- N. 862 Does gender matter for public spending? Empirical evidence from Italian municipalities, by Massimiliano Rigon and Giulia M. Tanzi (April 2012).
- N. 863 House price cycles in emerging economies, by Alessio Ciarlone (April 2012).
- N. 864 Measuring the underground economy with the currency demand approach: a reinterpretation of the methodology, with an application to Italy, by Guerino Ardizzi, Carmelo Petraglia, Massimiliano Piacenza and Gilberto Turati (April 2012).
- N. 865 *Corporate geography in multi-plant firms*, by Rita Cappariello, Stefano Federico and Roberta Zizza (April 2012).
- N. 866 Don't stand so close to me: the urban impact of immigration, by Antonio Accetturo, Francesco Manaresi, Sauro Mocetti and Elisabetta Olivieri (April 2012).
- N. 867 Disinflation effects in a medium-scale New Keynesian model: money supply rule versus interest rate rule, by Guido Ascari and Tiziano Ropele (April 2012).
- N. 868 The economic costs of organized crime: evidence from southern Italy, by Paolo Pinotti (April 2012).
- N. 869 Network effects of public transport infrastructure: evidence on Italian regions, by Valter Di Giacinto, Giacinto Micucci and Pasqualino Montanaro (July 2012).
- N. 870 To misreport or not to report? The measurement of household financial wealth, by Andrea Neri and Maria Giovanna Ranalli (July 2012).
- N. 871 Capital destruction, jobless recoveries, and the discipline device role of unemployment, by Marianna Riggi (July 2012).
- N. 872 Selecting predictors by using Bayesian model averaging in bridge models, by Lorenzo Bencivelli, Massimiliano Marcellino and Gianluca Moretti (July 2012).
- N. 873 Euro area and global oil shocks: an empirical model-based analysis, by Lorenzo Forni, Andrea Gerali, Alessandro Notarpietro and Massimiliano Pisani (July 2012).
- N. 874 Evidence on the impact of R&D and ICT investment on innovation and productivity in Italian firms, by Bronwyn H. Hall, Francesca Lotti and Jacques Mairesse (July 2012).
- N. 875 *Family background, self-confidence and economic outcomes*, by Antonio Filippin and Marco Paccagnella (July 2012).
- N. 876 Banks' reactions to Basel-III, by Paolo Angelini and Andrea Gerali (July 2012).
- N. 877 *Exporters and importers of services: firm-level evidence on Italy*, by Stefano Federico and Enrico Tosti (September 2012).
- N. 878 Do food commodity prices have asymmetric effects on euro-area inflation?, by Mario Porqueddu and Fabrizio Venditti (September 2012).
- N. 879 Industry dynamics and competition from low-wage countries: evidence on Italy, by Stefano Federico (September 2012).
- N. 880 *The micro dynamics of exporting: evidence from French firms*, by Ines Buono and Harald Fadinger (September 2012).
- N. 881 On detecting end-of-sample instabilities, by Fabio Busetti (September 2012).
- N. 882 An empirical comparison of alternative credit default swap pricing models, by Michele Leonardo Bianchi (September 2012).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

2009

- F. PANETTA, F. SCHIVARDI and M. SHUM, *Do mergers improve information? Evidence from the loan market*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 41, 4, pp. 673-709, **TD No. 521 (October 2004).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Do workers' remittances reduce the probability of current account reversals?*, World Development, v. 37, 12, pp. 1821-1838, **TD No. 573 (January 2006).**
- P. PAGANO and M. PISANI, *Risk-adjusted forecasts of oil prices*, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 9, 1, Article 24, **TD No. 585 (March 2006).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. SBRACIA, The CAPM and the risk appetite index: theoretical differences, empirical similarities, and implementation problems, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 123-150, TD No. 586 (March 2006).
- R. BRONZINI and P. PISELLI, *Determinants of long-run regional productivity with geographical spillovers: the role of R&D, human capital and public infrastructure,* Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 39, 2, pp.187-199, **TD No. 597 (September 2006).**
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and the business cycle*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 5, 4, pp. 393-409, **TD No. 601 (September 2006).**
- F. BALASSONE, D. FRANCO and S. ZOTTERI, *The reliability of EMU fiscal indicators: risks and safeguards*, in M. Larch and J. Nogueira Martins (eds.), Fiscal Policy Making in the European Union: an Assessment of Current Practice and Challenges, London, Routledge, **TD No. 633 (June 2007).**
- A. CIARLONE, P. PISELLI and G. TREBESCHI, *Emerging Markets' Spreads and Global Financial Conditions*, Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions & Money, v. 19, 2, pp. 222-239, **TD No. 637 (June 2007)**.
- S. MAGRI, *The financing of small innovative firms: the Italian case*, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, v. 18, 2, pp. 181-204, **TD No. 640 (September 2007).**
- V. DI GIACINTO and G. MICUCCI, The producer service sector in Italy: long-term growth and its local determinants, Spatial Economic Analysis, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 391-425, TD No. 643 (September 2007).
- F. LORENZO, L. MONTEFORTE and L. SESSA, *The general equilibrium effects of fiscal policy: estimates for the euro area*, Journal of Public Economics, v. 93, 3-4, pp. 559-585, **TD No. 652** (November 2007).
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA and D. MARQUÉS, *Securitisation and the bank lending channel*, European Economic Review, v. 53, 8, pp. 996-1009, **TD No. 653** (November 2007).
- R. GOLINELLI and S. MOMIGLIANO, *The Cyclical Reaction of Fiscal Policies in the Euro Area. A Critical Survey of Empirical Research*, Fiscal Studies, v. 30, 1, pp. 39-72, **TD No. 654 (January 2008).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, S. FABIANI and R. SABBATINI, What's behind "Inflation Perceptions"? A survey-based analysis of Italian consumers, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, v. 68, 1, pp. 25-52, TD No. 655 (January 2008).
- F. MACCHERONI, M. MARINACCI, A. RUSTICHINI and M. TABOGA, *Portfolio selection with monotone mean*variance preferences, Mathematical Finance, v. 19, 3, pp. 487-521, **TD No. 664 (April 2008).**
- M. AFFINITO and M. PIAZZA, What are borders made of? An analysis of barriers to European banking integration, in P. Alessandrini, M. Fratianni and A. Zazzaro (eds.): The Changing Geography of Banking and Finance, Dordrecht Heidelberg London New York, Springer, TD No. 666 (April 2008).
- A. BRANDOLINI, On applying synthetic indices of multidimensional well-being: health and income inequalities in France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom, in R. Gotoh and P. Dumouchel (eds.), Against Injustice. The New Economics of Amartya Sen, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, TD No. 668 (April 2008).
- G. FERRERO and A. NOBILI, *Futures contract rates as monetary policy forecasts*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 5, 2, pp. 109-145, **TD No. 681 (June 2008).**
- P. CASADIO, M. LO CONTE and A. NERI, Balancing work and family in Italy: the new mothers' employment decisions around childbearing, in T. Addabbo and G. Solinas (eds.), Non-Standard Employment and Qualità of Work, Physica-Verlag. A Sprinter Company, TD No. 684 (August 2008).
- L. ARCIERO, C. BIANCOTTI, L. D'AURIZIO and C. IMPENNA, *Exploring agent-based methods for the analysis* of payment systems: A crisis model for StarLogo TNG, Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation, v. 12, 1, **TD No. 686 (August 2008).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, Nonlinearities in the dynamics of the euro area demand for M1, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 13, 1, pp. 1-19, **TD No. 690 (September 2008).**
- L. FRANCESCO and A. SECCHI, *Technological change and the households' demand for currency*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 56, 2, pp. 222-230, **TD No. 697 (December 2008).**

- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, *Trend inflation, taylor principle, and indeterminacy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 41, 8, pp. 1557-1584, **TD No. 708** (May 2007).
- S. COLAROSSI and A. ZAGHINI, *Gradualism, transparency and the improved operational framework: a look at overnight volatility transmission*, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 151-170, **TD No. 710 (May 2009).**
- M. BUGAMELLI, F. SCHIVARDI and R. ZIZZA, *The euro and firm restructuring*, in A. Alesina e F. Giavazzi (eds): Europe and the Euro, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, **TD No. 716 (June 2009).**
- B. HALL, F. LOTTI and J. MAIRESSE, *Innovation and productivity in SMEs: empirical evidence for Italy*, Small Business Economics, v. 33, 1, pp. 13-33, **TD No. 718 (June 2009).**

2010

- A. PRATI and M. SBRACIA, *Uncertainty and currency crises: evidence from survey data*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v, 57, 6, pp. 668-681, **TD No. 446 (July 2002).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and S. SIVIERO, *The Economic Consequences of Euro Area Modelling Shortcuts*, Applied Economics, v. 42, 19-21, pp. 2399-2415, **TD No. 458 (December 2002).**
- S. MAGRI, *Debt maturity choice of nonpublic Italian firms*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v.42, 2-3, pp. 443-463, **TD No. 574 (January 2006).**
- G. DE BLASIO and G. NUZZO, *Historical traditions of civicness and local economic development*, Journal of Regional Science, v. 50, 4, pp. 833-857, **TD No. 591 (May 2006).**
- E. IOSSA and G. PALUMBO, *Over-optimism and lender liability in the consumer credit market*, Oxford Economic Papers, v. 62, 2, pp. 374-394, **TD No. 598 (September 2006).**
- S. NERI and A. NOBILI, *The transmission of US monetary policy to the euro area,* International Finance, v. 13, 1, pp. 55-78, **TD No. 606 (December 2006).**
- F. ALTISSIMO, R. CRISTADORO, M. FORNI, M. LIPPI and G. VERONESE, *New Eurocoin: Tracking Economic Growth in Real Time*, Review of Economics and Statistics, v. 92, 4, pp. 1024-1034, **TD No. 631 (June 2007).**
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and taxation*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 34, 11, pp. 2801-2810, **TD No. 649** (November 2007).
- M. IACOVIELLO and S. NERI, *Housing market spillovers: evidence from an estimated DSGE model,* American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, v. 2, 2, pp. 125-164, **TD No. 659 (January 2008).**
- F. BALASSONE, F. MAURA and S. ZOTTERI, *Cyclical asymmetry in fiscal variables in the EU*, Empirica, **TD** No. 671, v. 37, 4, pp. 381-402 (June 2008).
- F. D'AMURI, O. GIANMARCO I.P. and P. GIOVANNI, The labor market impact of immigration on the western german labor market in the 1990s, European Economic Review, v. 54, 4, pp. 550-570, TD No. 687 (August 2008).
- A. ACCETTURO, Agglomeration and growth: the effects of commuting costs, Papers in Regional Science, v. 89, 1, pp. 173-190, **TD No. 688 (September 2008).**
- S. NOBILI and G. PALAZZO, *Explaining and forecasting bond risk premiums*, Financial Analysts Journal, v. 66, 4, pp. 67-82, **TD No. 689 (September 2008).**
- A. B. ATKINSON and A. BRANDOLINI, *On analysing the world distribution of income*, World Bank Economic Review, v. 24, 1, pp. 1-37, **TD No. 701 (January 2009).**
- R. CAPPARIELLO and R. ZIZZA, Dropping the Books and Working Off the Books, Labour, v. 24, 2, pp. 139-162, **TD No. 702 (January 2009).**
- C. NICOLETTI and C. RONDINELLI, *The (mis)specification of discrete duration models with unobserved heterogeneity: a Monte Carlo study*, Journal of Econometrics, v. 159, 1, pp. 1-13, **TD No. 705** (March 2009).
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *Macroeconomic effects of greater competition in the service sector: the case of Italy*, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 14, 5, pp. 677-708, **TD No. 706** (March 2009).
- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Dynamic macroeconomic effects of public capital: evidence from regional Italian data, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 1, pp. 29-66, TD No. 733 (November 2009).
- F. COLUMBA, L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Mutual Guarantee institutions and small business finance*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 1, pp. 45-54, **TD No. 735** (November 2009).
- A. GERALI, S. NERI, L. SESSA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Credit and banking in a DSGE model of the Euro Area,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 42, 6, pp. 107-141, **TD No. 740 (January 2010).**
- M. AFFINITO and E. TAGLIAFERRI, Why do (or did?) banks securitize their loans? Evidence from Italy, Journal

of Financial Stability, v. 6, 4, pp. 189-202, TD No. 741 (January 2010).

- S. FEDERICO, Outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad and firm heterogeneity, Empirica, v. 37, 1, pp. 47-63, **TD No. 742** (February 2010).
- V. DI GIACINTO, *On vector autoregressive modeling in space and time*, Journal of Geographical Systems, v. 12, 2, pp. 125-154, **TD No. 746 (February 2010).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The macroeconomics of fiscal consolidations in euro area countries,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 34, 9, pp. 1791-1812, **TD No. 747** (March 2010).
- S. MOCETTI and C. PORELLO, *How does immigration affect native internal mobility? new evidence from Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 40, 6, pp. 427-439, **TD No. 748 (March 2010)**.
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap spread changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, Journal of Current Issues in Finance, Business and Economics, v. 3, 4, pp., **TD No. 749** (March 2010).
- P. CIPOLLONE, P. MONTANARO and P. SESTITO, Value-added measures in Italian high schools: problems and findings, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 2, pp. 81-114, TD No. 754 (March 2010).
- A. BRANDOLINI, S. MAGRI and T. M SMEEDING, *Asset-based measurement of poverty*, Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, v. 29, 2, pp. 267-284, **TD No. 755** (March 2010).
- G. CAPPELLETTI, A Note on rationalizability and restrictions on beliefs, The B.E. Journal of Theoretical Economics, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-11, **TD No. 757** (April 2010).
- S. DI ADDARIO and D. VURI, Entrepreneurship and market size. the case of young college graduates in Italy, Labour Economics, v. 17, 5, pp. 848-858, **TD No. 775 (September 2010).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, *Sectoral money demand and the great disinflation in the US*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 42, 8, pp. 1663-1678, **TD No. 785 (January 2011).**

2011

- S. DI ADDARIO, *Job search in thick markets*, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 69, 3, pp. 303-318, **TD No.** 605 (December 2006).
- F. SCHIVARDI and E. VIVIANO, *Entry barriers in retail trade*, Economic Journal, v. 121, 551, pp. 145-170, **TD** No. 616 (February 2007).
- G. FERRERO, A. NOBILI and P. PASSIGLIA, Assessing excess liquidity in the Euro Area: the role of sectoral distribution of money, Applied Economics, v. 43, 23, pp. 3213-3230, **TD No. 627** (April 2007).
- P. E. MISTRULLI, Assessing financial contagion in the interbank market: maximum entropy versus observed interbank lending patterns, Journal of Banking & Finance, v. 35, 5, pp. 1114-1127, TD No. 641 (September 2007).
- E. CIAPANNA, Directed matching with endogenous markov probability: clients or competitors?, The RAND Journal of Economics, v. 42, 1, pp. 92-120, **TD No. 665 (April 2008).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Output growth volatility and remittances*, Economica, v. 78, 311, pp. 480-500, **TD No. 673 (June 2008).**
- V. DI GIACINTO e M. PAGNINI, Local and global agglomeration patterns: two econometrics-based indicators, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 41, 3, pp. 266-280, **TD No. 674 (June 2008)**.
- G. BARONE and F. CINGANO, Service regulation and growth: evidence from OECD countries, Economic Journal, v. 121, 555, pp. 931-957, TD No. 675 (June 2008).
- R. GIORDANO and P. TOMMASINO, What determines debt intolerance? The role of political and monetary *institutions*, European Journal of Political Economy, v. 27, 3, pp. 471-484, **TD No. 700 (January 2009).**
- P. ANGELINI, A. NOBILI e C. PICILLO, *The interbank market after August 2007: What has changed, and why?*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 43, 5, pp. 923-958, **TD No. 731 (October 2009).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The Macroeconomics of Fiscal Consolidation in a Monetary Union: the Case of Italy*, in Luigi Paganetto (ed.), Recovery after the crisis. Perspectives and policies, VDM Verlag Dr. Muller, **TD No. 747 (March 2010).**
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, in Barbara L. Campos and Janet P. Wilkins (eds.), The Financial Crisis: Issues in Business, Finance and Global Economics, New York, Nova Science Publishers, Inc., **TD No. 749 (March 2010).**
- A. LEVY and A. ZAGHINI, *The pricing of government guaranteed bank bonds*, Banks and Bank Systems, v. 6, 3, pp. 16-24, **TD No. 753 (March 2010).**

- G. GRANDE and I. VISCO, A public guarantee of a minimum return to defined contribution pension scheme members, The Journal of Risk, v. 13, 3, pp. 3-43, **TD No. 762 (June 2010).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, G. ERAMO and A. NOBILI, *Disentangling demand and supply in credit developments: a survey-based analysis for Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 10, pp. 2719-2732, **TD No.** 764 (June 2010).
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, With a little help from abroad: the effect of low-skilled immigration on the female labour supply, Labour Economics, v. 18, 5, pp. 664-675, **TD No. 766 (July 2010).**
- A. FELETTIGH and S. FEDERICO, *Measuring the price elasticity of import demand in the destination markets of italian exports*, Economia e Politica Industriale, v. 38, 1, pp. 127-162, **TD No. 776 (October 2010).**
- S. MAGRI and R. PICO, *The rise of risk-based pricing of mortgage interest rates in Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 5, pp. 1277-1290, **TD No. 778 (October 2010).**
- M. TABOGA, Under/over-valuation of the stock market and cyclically adjusted earnings, International Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 135-164, **TD No. 780 (December 2010).**
- S. NERI, *Housing, consumption and monetary policy: how different are the U.S. and the Euro area?*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v.35, 11, pp. 3019-3041, **TD No. 807 (April 2011).**
- V. CUCINIELLO, *The welfare effect of foreign monetary conservatism with non-atomistic wage setters*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 43, 8, pp. 1719-1734, **TD No. 810 (June 2011).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, welfare costs of inflation and the circulation of US currency abroad, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 11, 1, Art. 12, **TD No. 812 (June 2011).**
- I. FAIELLA, *La spesa energetica delle famiglie italiane*, Energia, v. 32, 4, pp. 40-46, **TD No. 822 (September 2011).**
- R. DE BONIS and A. SILVESTRINI, *The effects of financial and real wealth on consumption: new evidence from* OECD countries, Applied Financial Economics, v. 21, 5, pp. 409–425, **TD No. 837** (November 2011).

2012

- F. CINGANO and A. ROSOLIA, *People I know: job search and social networks*, Journal of Labor Economics, v. 30, 2, pp. 291-332, **TD No. 600 (September 2006).**
- G. GOBBI and R. ZIZZA, Does the underground economy hold back financial deepening? Evidence from the italian credit market, Economia Marche, Review of Regional Studies, v. 31, 1, pp. 1-29, TD No. 646 (November 2006).
- S. MOCETTI, *Educational choices and the selection process before and after compulsory school*, Education Economics, v. 20, 2, pp. 189-209, **TD No. 691 (September 2008).**
- A. ACCETTURO and G. DE BLASIO, Policies for local development: an evaluation of Italy's "Patti Territoriali", Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 42, 1-2, pp. 15-26, TD No. 789 (January 2006).
- F. BUSETTI and S. DI SANZO, *Bootstrap LR tests of stationarity, common trends and cointegration,* Journal of Statistical Computation and Simulation, v. 82, 9, pp. 1343-1355, **TD No. 799 (March 2006).**
- S. NERI and T. ROPELE, *Imperfect information, real-time data and monetary policy in the Euro area,* The Economic Journal, v. 122, 561, pp. 651-674, **TD No. 802 (March 2011).**
- A. ANZUINI and F. FORNARI, *Macroeconomic determinants of carry trade activity*, Review of International Economics, v. 20, 3, pp. 468-488, **TD No. 817 (September 2011).**
- R. CRISTADORO and D. MARCONI, *Household savings in China*, Journal of Chinese Economic and Business Studies, v. 10, 3, pp. 275-299, **TD No. 838 (November 2011).**
- A. FILIPPIN and M. PACCAGNELLA, *Family background, self-confidence and economic outcomes,* Economics of Education Review, v. 31, 5, pp. 824-834, **TD No. 875 (July 2012).**

FORTHCOMING

- M. BUGAMELLI and A. ROSOLIA, *Produttività e concorrenza estera*, Rivista di politica economica, **TD No.** 578 (February 2006).
- P. SESTITO and E. VIVIANO, *Reservation wages: explaining some puzzling regional patterns*, Labour, **TD No. 696 (December 2008).**

- P. PINOTTI, M. BIANCHI and P. BUONANNO, *Do immigrants cause crime?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 698 (December 2008).**
- F. LIPPI and A. NOBILI, *Oil and the macroeconomy: a quantitative structural analysis*, Journal of European Economic Association, **TD No. 704** (March 2009).
- F. CINGANO and P. PINOTTI, *Politicians at work. The private returns and social costs of political connections*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 709 (May 2009).**
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA, and D. MARQUÉS-IBÁÑEZ, *Bank risk and monetary policy*, Journal of Financial Stability, **TD No. 712 (May 2009).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Tax morale and public spending inefficiency*, International Tax and Public Finance, **TD No. 732 (November 2009).**
- S. FEDERICO, *Headquarter intensity and the choice between outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad*, Industrial and Corporate Change, **TD No. 742 (February 2010).**
- I. BUONO and G. LALANNE, *The effect of the Uruguay Round on the intensive and extensive margins of trade*, Journal of International Economics, **TD No. 835 (February 2011).**
- G. BARONE, R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Switching costs in local credit markets*, International Journal of Industrial Organization, **TD No. 760 (June 2010).**
- E. COCOZZA and P. PISELLI, Testing for east-west contagion in the European banking sector during the financial crisis, in R. Matoušek; D. Stavárek (eds.), Financial Integration in the European Union, Taylor & Francis, TD No. 790 (February 2011).
- A. DE SOCIO, *Squeezing liquidity in a "lemons market" or asking liquidity "on tap"*, Journal of Banking and Finance, **TD No. 819 (September 2011).**
- M. AFFINITO, *Do interbank customer relationships exist? And how did they function in the crisis? Learning from Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, **TD No. 826 (October 2011).**
- O. BLANCHARD and M. RIGGI, Why are the 2000s so different from the 1970s? A structural interpretation of changes in the macroeconomic effects of oil prices, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 835 (November 2011).**
- S. FEDERICO, *Industry dynamics and competition from low-wage countries: evidence on Italy*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, **TD No. 877 (settembre 2012).**